# SUPREME COURT FILED

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DEC 2 9 2015

		Frank A. McGuire Clerk
IN RE	)	Case No. S226596 Deputy
	)	Court of Appeal Case Nos.
HECTOR MARTINEZ,	)	D066705, D058929
	)	
On Habeas Corpus.	)	Superior Court Case No.
-	)	SCD224457
	)	FILED WITH PERMISSION

AFTER DECISION OF THE FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE

FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, THE HONORABLE ROBERT O'NEILL, JUDGE PRESIDING

# **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

**MARILEE MARSHALL** 

Attorney at Law State Bar No. 101046 MARILEE MARSHALL & ASSOCIATES 595 E. Colorado Blvd., Suite 324 Pasadena, CA 91101

(626) 564-1136

A.	Introduction
В.	Chiu Holds That No One May Be Convicted Of First Degree Murder Under A Natural And Probable Consequences Theory Of Liability
<b>C.</b>	Chiu Requires Reversal Of Petitioner's Conviction
CONC	CLUSION
TFRT	IFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# FEDERAL CASES

Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18 [87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705]			
Fiore v. White (2001) 531 U.S. 225 [121 S.Ct. 712, 148 L.Ed.2d 629]			
Schirro v. Summerlin (2004) 542 U.S. 348 [124 S.Ct. 2519,159 L.Ed.2d 442]22			
STATE CASES			
People v. Beeman (1984) 35 Cal.3d 547			
People v. Chiu (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155			
People v. Green (1970) 27 Cal.3d 1			
People v. Guiton (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1116			
People v. Medina (2009) 46 Cal.4th 913			
People v. Prettyman (1996) 14 Cal.4th 248			
STATE STATUTES			
Pen. Code § 31			
Pen. Code § 187			
Pen. Code § 245			
Pen. Code §186.22			
Pen. Code § 12022			
Pen. Code §12022.53			
Pen. Code § 1181			
Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707			

# **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS**

U.S. Const, 5th Amend	22		
U.S. Const. 14th Amend.	22		
MISCELLANEOUS			
CALCRIM No. 403	20		
CALCRIM No. 520	20		

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN RE	)	Case No. S226596
HECTOR MARTINEZ,	)	Court of Appeal Case Nos. D066705, D058929
On Habeas Corpus.	) ) )	Superior Court Case No. SCD224457
	j	

## **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

TO THE HONORABLE TANI CANTIL-SAKAUYE, CHIEF JUSTICE, AND TO THE HONORABLE ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA:

Petitioner, **HECTOR MARTINEZ**, files this opening brief on the merits, following the Court's grant of review on September 11, 2015.

Petitioner respectfully urges the Court to hold that *People v. Chiu* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155, requires reversal of Petitioner's first degree murder because it can not conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury based its verdict on the legally valid theory that the defendant directly aided and abetted the premeditated murder." (*People v. Chiu, supra*, 59 Cal.4th at p. 167.)

#### **ISSUE ON REVIEW**

In the petition for review, Petitioner presented the following issue:

Whether, pursuant to this Court's decision in *People v. Chiu* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 155, petitioner was wrongfully convicted of first degree murder under a legally erroneous natural and probable consequences alternative theory of liability.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In the instant case, there is nothing in the record to demonstrate that the jury unanimously found petitioner guilty as a direct aider and abettor especially given the prosecution's argument that they did not all need to agree on a theory. The Court of Appeal concludes that there was sufficient evidence under the direct aiding and abetting theory but this does not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury based its verdict on direct aiding and abetting rather than the natural and probable consequence theory. In other words, petitioner maintains and respectfully asks this Court to hold that while the Court of Appeal cites to evidence suggesting that the jury could have found petitioner guilty as, a direct aider and abettor, Chiu requires a conclusion beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury did base its finding upon that theory and the prosecution cannot sustain that burden

### PROCEDURAL STATEMENT

Petitioner and co-defendant Darren Martinez (no relation to petitioner), were charged by information filed on April 20, 2010, with the murder of Guillermo "Willie" Esparza (Pen. Code § 187, subd. (a); Count I), assault of Esparza with a semi-automatic firearm (Pen. Code § 245, subd. (b); Count II), and assault of Jimmy Parker by means likely to produce great bodily injury (Pen. Code § 245, subd. (a)(1); Count III). (1 C.T. 1-6.) It was further alleged petitioner was a principal in the murder of Esparza and, during the commission of the murder, at least one principal personally used a firearm, proximately causing great bodily injury and death (Pen. Code § 12022.53, subds. (d), (e)(1)). It was also alleged, with respect to Count I, that petitioner was vicariously armed with a firearm (Pen. Code § 12022,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Additional charges were alleged against Darren Martinez.

subd. (a)(1)). (1 C.T. 1-6.) Finally, it was alleged petitioner was 16 years or older when he committed Counts I through III (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, subd. (d)(1)) and that he committed these offenses for the benefit of a criminal street gang. (Pen. Code §186.22, subd. (b)(1)).<sup>2</sup> (1 C.T. 1-6.)

On November 17, 2010, a jury found petitioner and Darren Martinez guilty as charged of all counts and allegations. (11 R.T. 1787-1789, 1790-1795; 2 C.T. 360-367; 459, 462-465.)

On January 7, 2011, the court denied petitioner's motion to modify the jury's verdict of first degree murder pursuant to Penal Code section 1181, subdivision (6). (11 R.T. 1802-1803; 2 C.T. 371-379.) Petitioner was then sentenced to an indeterminate term of 50 years to life, plus six years as follows: 25 years to life for premeditated murder (Count I), a consecutive term of 25 years to life for the attendant use of gun causing great bodily injury or death, a consecutive three years for the assault on Parker (Count III), plus three years for the gang allegation. Execution of sentence on Count II was stayed.<sup>3</sup> (11 R.T. 1828.)

Petitioner filed his notice of appeal on January 7, 2011. (2 C.T. 396.) On July 21, 2011, petitioner filed an opening brief, in case number D058929, arguing: (1) his conviction for premeditated murder must be reversed because the court failed to adequately instruct the jury on the natural and probable consequences doctrine of liability for aiders and abettors; (2) there was insufficient evidence to support his conviction of assault of Jimmy Parker by means of force likely to produce great bodily injury in Count 3; (3) the abstract of judgment must be corrected to reflect

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Petitioner's date of birth is June 29, 1992. He was 17 years old at the time of the shooting. (2 C.T. 380.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Darren Martinez was sentenced to an aggregate sentence of 50 years to life, plus 14 years. (11RT 1820-1822.)

the court's oral pronouncement of judgment; and (4) petitioner joined in his co-defendant's arguments. On March 5, 2013, the court of appeal issued an opinion affirming petitioner's convictions with directions to correct the abstract of judgment. Petitioner filed a petition for review, in case number S209709, on April 17, 2013, requesting that the Court review: (1) whether petitioner's conviction for premeditated murder should be reversed because the jury was not instructed to determine that premeditated murder (as opposed to second degree murder) was a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the target crimes of assault and battery; and (2) whether there was insufficient evidence to support petitioner's conviction for the assault in Count III. On May 22, 2013, this Court denied the petition for review without prejudice to relief which petitioner might be entitled to after the court decided *People v. Chiu*. On May 23, 2013, a remittitur was issued. On July 28, 2014, petitioner filed a motion to recall the remittitur and reinstate the appeal in the Court of Appeal arguing that his conviction for first degree murder was abrogated by this Court in Chiu. The attorney general filed an opposition arguing that petitioner had not set forth good cause for extraordinary relief and that motions based on claims of judicial error cannot be the basis for recalling the remittitur. On September 5, 2014, the Court of Appeal denied the motion to recall the remittitur. On August 12, 2014, petitioner filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court, Southern District, case number 3:14-cv-01890-DMS-KSC, arguing: (1) the jury was not instructed it had to determine that premeditated murder was a reasonably foreseeable consequence of the target crimes of assault and battery and the instructional error removed an element required to convict petitioner of first degree murder in violation of his Fifth Amendment right to due process and his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial; (2) the evidence was insufficient to

support a conviction for assault by means of force likely to cause great bodily injury; and (3) Penal Code section 31 does not permit the conviction of an aider and abettor for first degree premeditated murder under the natural and probable consequence doctrine and such a conviction violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process and his Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial on the element of premeditation. On the same day, petitioner also filed a notice of an unexhausted claim and request to hold proceeding in abeyance, noting that Ground Three had not been analyzed under *Chiu*. Petitioner's district court petition is currently stayed, pending the outcome in this case.

## **FACTUAL STATEMENT**

#### A. Prosecution Evidence

## 1. Shooting Incident on August 21, 2009

On August 20, 2009, Guillermo "Willie" Esparza (18 years old) and Jimmy Parker (17 years old) were hanging out at David and Chelly Elias's house watching movies and playing beer games. The Elias residence was located in the Paradise Hills neighborhood. (2 R.T. 155-157, 218-220.) Around 1:30 a.m., Parker had to leave and Esparza offered to walk home with him. (2 R.T. 157, 221.) The two boys started out on back residential streets because Parker was on probation and it was past curfew. (2 R.T. 223.) At the intersection of Woodman and Paradise Valley Road, they cut behind the McDonald's and continued east on Paradise Valley toward Briarwood. (2 R.T. 224.)

About 2:00 a.m., Stella Revelez Garcia ("Revelez") was driving her son David Garcia (14 yrs. old), co-defendant Darren Martinez (known as "Boo"), Darren's cousin Janie Sierra, and petitioner (known as "Kicks") from her house in the Paradise Hills area to Jack in the Box, which was about two miles away. There was no food in the house and everyone was

hungry after an evening at the beach. (3 R.T. 530, 532-533; 536-536, 4 R.T. 666, 669, 673; 5 R.T. 795.) Darren, who was just short of his 21st birthday and had recently begun a romantic relationship with the older Revelez, was riding in the front passenger seat of the Tahoe. Petitioner was in the right rear passenger seat, David was in the middle, and Janie was behind Revelez. (3 R.T. 534, 537-538, 4 R.T. 668-669.) At the time, petitioner was wearing a white "slingshot" or tank top. Darren was dressed in a baggy shirt. One of them was wearing a light-colored Chargers hat. (5 R.T. 814-815.)

After they ordered food in the drive-thru at Jack in the Box, Revelez saw the gun sitting in Darren's lap, although she didn't recall talking to Darren about it at that point. (5 R.T. 797, 874.) Earlier, Revelez had seen Darren with a revolver in her bedroom and told him to get it out of the house. Petitioner may or may not have been in Revelez's room at the time, but she never saw him with that gun. (4 R.T. 784-785, 786; 5 R.T. 867.) Darren asked to borrow her truck so that he could "take it back" and, at some point, Darren and petitioner took the Tahoe and left the house for a while. (4 R.T. 673, 782-783, 785.) According to David, Darren left the house at around 11:00 p.m. or midnight, but it was to go pick up petitioner. (4 R.T. 610,641.) David testified he never saw Darren or petitioner with a gun at his house or in the car. (4 R.T. 552, 611, 616.)

As Revelez was driving back home from Jack in the Box (westbound on Paradise Valley Road), Darren told Revelez he forgot something and asked her to turn around and go back to the store. (3 R.T. 538, 617; 5 R.T. 798.) Revelez made a u-turn near Woodman and started driving back east. (5 R.T. 800.) It was dark on Paradise Valley Road and neither Revelez nor David saw any pedestrians. (4 R.T. 624; 5 R.T. 801.) When Revelez came up to the traffic light at Briarwood, Darren said he needed to go to the

See A See A

bathroom. (4 R.T. 539, 622.) David testified he saw Darren and petitioner get out of the truck and go pee, but then acknowledged that he did not actually see where they went. He just assumed that's what they did. (4 R.T. 649-650, 662.) According to Revelez, she saw Darren run westbound down Paradise Valley and petitioner followed. Neither Darren nor petitioner said anything before they jumped out. (3 R.T. 539, 542, 545; 5 R.T. 802-803.)

Meanwhile, Esparza and Parker had crossed over to the sidewalk on the north side of Paradise Valley Road (2 R.T. 226) and were approaching Briarwood when two Hispanic males<sup>4</sup> came running toward them from the corner (2 R.T. 228, 230, 232). One male was 18-22 years old, 5'9", stocky, and dressed in a grey tank top and dark jeans. The other male was younger – 16 to 20 years old – smaller, and wearing a sweater and a Charger's hat. (2 R.T. 235-236, 283.) Parker and Esparza initially stopped when they saw the two approaching – they were about 30 feet away – and they waited to see what the two were going to do. Parker then started walking forward. (2) R.T. 234, 237.) The guy in the tank top spoke up and asked, "where are you from?" Esparza didn't respond, but Parker recognized this guy was "looking for trouble." He replied that he was from S.F.A.<sup>5</sup> and did not "bang." (2 R.T. 228, 241-242, 249, 268.) The guy in the tank top then swung at Parker who swung back as he sidestepped into the street. Meanwhile, Parker heard the guy in the Charger's hat say "this is Lomas" and gunshots followed. (2 R.T. 228-229, 240, 244, 249, 269.) Parker and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Parker was unable to identify petitioner or Darren Martinez at trial but distinguished between the two by describing them as the "tank top" guy and the "shooter." (2 R.T. 258, 289-290.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> S.F.A., which stands for "Sickest Fools Around" or "Still Fucking Around," is recognized as a tagging crew from Logan and not a criminal street gang. (2 R.T. 242-243, 251; 8 R.T. 1351-1352.)

the guy in the tank top froze at that sound. (2 R.T. 244, 275.) Parker looked over his left shoulder and saw Esparza on the street, about 20 feet away, with the shooter looking down at him. (2 R.T. 228-229, 240-241, 245-247, 249, 269, 285.) A split second later, the guy in the tank top took another swing, nicking Parker on the back left side of his head. (2 R.T. 244, 275, 281.) Meanwhile, there were two more gunshots. Parker was yelling "what the fuck" and ran toward Esparza. He was expecting a fist fight but never thought this would happen. (2 R.T. 250, 266-267.)

The shooter started running down Paradise Valley Road and then other guy started running. (2 R.T. 253, 257.) According to Parker, from the moment the first guy took a swing at him, things were happening simultaneously and everything happened fast. (2 R.T. 235, 246, 249-250, 253.)

When Parker got to Esparza, his eyes were rolled back, he was choking on his blood and unresponsive. Parker cradled him in his lap trying to figure out what to do. (2 R.T. 254-255.) Minutes later, Parker flagged down Sherri Zulueta who was driving west on Paradise Valley Road and asked for help. (2 R.T. 171-173, 175-176, 192.) Zulueta's friend, Lisa Buagh got out and helped Parker talk to the 911 dispatcher. (2 R.T. 192-193; 1 C.T. 62-67.) Meanwhile, Rick Masias had already stopped in his green Chevy Tahoe and his friend, Alfred Lopez, got out to tell Baugh that he had called the police. (2 R.T. 200, 209, 294, 297, 302.) Neither Zulueta, Baugh, Masias nor Lopez heard gunfire, saw anybody running from the scene, or noticed another Tahoe like his in the vicinity. (2 R.T. 188, 200, 300, 310-311, 318.)

Revelez, who had been waiting for the traffic light to turn green after Darren and petitioner jumped out of the truck, heard three or four popping noises. She turned right onto Briarwood and then made a u-turn so she

could go back west on Paradise Valley Road. (3 R.T. 539-626; 5 R.T. 804-806, 807.) When the light turned green, Revelez turned left on Paradise Valley. She started to pull over to the side of the road and saw "one kid holding another one." Darren came running up to her truck from the southbound lane on Paradise Valley, but Revelez took off because David started "spazzing" that he had "seen [a kid] shot." (3 R.T. 547; 5 R.T. 807, 809, 811-812, 921-922.) Revelez did not see petitioner anywhere in the area. (5 R.T. 811, 814.) David, who heard a "pop, pop, pop" all in a row, leaned over toward the right passenger window as his mom drove past and saw a person on his knees holding his friend. (4 R.T. 627-628, 651, 663.) David did not recall Darren coming up to the car or his mom refusing to let him in. (4 RT 630.)

Once home, Revelez ignored her ringing phones. Darren did not have a cell phone but Revelez knew Darren was trying to call her because he was using petitioner's cell phone that night and she knew petitioner's phone number. (5 R.T. 813, 816-817, 819.) She finally answered the phone when she recognized that Darren's brother, Raul, was calling. (5 R.T. 820.) Raul convinced Revelez to pick him up so they could go find Darren. Revelez and Raul located Darren waiting at the car wash behind the Navy housing, about a half-mile from the intersection of Paradise Valley Road and Briarwood. (5 R.T. 823, 924.) They drove back to Revelez's house where Darren wrapped the gun and his clothing in a towel and put them in Raul's car, which was being stored in Revelez's garage. (5 R.T. 825-827.) Around 9:00 a.m., Revelez drove Darren and Raul to Chula Vista. She did not see Darren for a couple days. (5 R.T. 829.)

At the scene of the shooting, responding San Diego police recovered four cartridge casings and three bullets from around Esparza's body. A fourth bullet was recovered later at the autopsy. (3 R.T. 424-425, 427.)

Three divots, consistent with bullet impact, were found in the street under and around Eparza's body. (3 R.T. 390-391; 472-473.) Bloody footprints leading from Esparza's body were found to match the bottom of Parker's sneakers. (3 R.T. 385-387.)

Bill Loznycky, the police department's forensics analyst, determined the recovered cartridge casings were fired from the same semiautomatic .380 caliber firearm. (3 R.T. 439, 443.) It could not be determined if the bullets, which were .380 caliber, were all shot from the same weapon but they reflected severe impact damage consistent with having hit a firm or hard surface such as asphalt or bone. (3 R.T. 444, 448.) Loznycky explained that a .380 caliber bullet would leave a divot if it hit asphalt. The particular size of the resulting divot would depend on the type of asphalt and the angle of the shot. (3 R.T. 445.) Evidence of a divot did not necessarily mean a shooting victim was lying down when shot. (3 R.T. 451.)

Deputy Medical Examiner Steven Campman identified the cause of death as multiple gunshot wounds and the manner of death as homicide. (3 R.T. 473, 475.) Campman described two wounds to the right thigh, one to the right shoulder and one to the left shoulder. (3 R.T. 470.) The shot to the left shoulder was identified as the most critical because it went into the chest, through the left lung, aorta, and right lung, before ending in the right arm. (3 R.T. 498-499, 504, 517.) According to Campbell, Esparza would have died from this particular injury within minutes. (3 R.T. 504.) The other three shots, which all entered on the back right side of the body, followed in some undetermined order and were consistent with a person having turned his body in a defensive way. (3 R.T. 508-509, 517-518, 521.)

## 2. <u>Huberto Taco Shop Assaults</u>

On September 1, 2009, Revelez drove Darren and a few others to

and from Herberto's Taco Shop at 25th and Broadway. (4 R.T. 571-574.) Jose Juarez and two friends were eating there when Darren and the others walked in, started swearing and arguing, and attempted to goad Juarez and his friends into a fight. (4 R.T. 711-713; 6 R.T. 1031, 1035-1036; 8 R.T. 1303-1304.) Darren Martinez was subsequently identified as the person who pulled out a knife during the ensuing fight, stabbed Juarez in the arm, and exclaimed, "that's why I killed your homie." (6 R.T. 1007-1008, 1045, 1126.)

#### 3. Defendants' Arrests

Petitioner was taken into custody by Officer James Dickinson of the San Diego Police Department on September 18, 2009, at the Calexico border from Customs and Border Protection, an intermediary between Mexican and U.S. authorities. (6 R.T. 1156; 3 R.T. 457-458; 2 C.T. 386.) At processing, petitioner's height was recorded as 5'5" and his weight at 115 pounds. (6 R.T. 1157-1159.) The words, "FUCK" and "GSU" were tattooed on his wrists and the Roman numerals X, X, V, and I – which appeared to be still healing – were on his fingers. Charger bolts were tattooed on his shoulders and the word "Lomas" was across his stomach. (6 R.T. 1161-1162, 1165, 1168; 9 R.T. 1491-1492.)

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