In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re

HECTOR MARTINEZ,
On Habeas Corpus

SUPREME COURT

Case No. S226596

APR 1 4 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D066705 San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCD224457 The Honorable Robert F. O'Neill, Judge

Deputy

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

and abet the murder of Esparza. Given these facts, petitioner cannot show an excess of jurisdiction as a matter of law.

In contrast, a petitioner relying on *Chiu* might succeed in pleading a prima facie case for relief if, for example, his or her jury was instructed on first degree murder based only on a natural and probable consequence theory of accomplice liability. However, because petitioner's jury was instructed with a proper theory for first degree murder, and because the evidence did not preclude a finding that he was guilty under that theory, he cannot meet his burden of pleading and proving a case for relief.

B. Petitioner Has Not Made Out a Prima Facie Case That the *Chiu* Error Was Prejudicial

Regardless whether petitioner could make a cognizable claim of an excess of jurisdiction, habeas corpus relief should be denied because he cannot establish that the *Chiu* error amounted to a miscarriage of justice. As the Court of Appeal properly determined, and as discussed in more detail below, the error did not prejudice petitioner.

1. Petitioner Must Show That the *Chiu* Error in His Trial Caused a Miscarriage of Justice

A Chiu claim is one of instructional error. Such an error rises to the level of a federal constitutional violation, potentially remediable in state habeas corpus, only if, in view of the instructions as a whole, it was "reasonably likely" that the jurors in his case misapplied the jury instructions on the incorrect theory of guilt in a unconstitutional way.

(Victor v. Nebraska (1994) 511 U.S. 1, 17-21 [114 S.Ct. 1239, 127 L.Ed.2d 583]; Estelle v. McGuire (1991) 502 U.S. 62, 72 [112 S.Ct. 475, 116 L.Ed.2d 385].) Otherwise, the error is one of only state-law dimension.

Even if the *Chiu* error in this case rose to the level of a federal constitutional violation, it still would be subject to appropriate review for harmlessness. (*Chiu*, *supra*, 59 Cal.4th at p. 167 ["we must determine

whether giving the instructions here allowing the jury to so convict defendant was harmless error"]; see *Hedgpeth v. Pulido* (2008) 555 U.S. 57, 61-62 (per curiam).) On direct appeal, federal constitutional error is reviewed for harmlessness under a standard inquiring whether the error was "harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." (*Chapman v. California, supra*, 386 U.S. at p. 24.) A criminal judgment may not be set aside on appeal for state-law error, however, unless it resulted in a "miscarriage of justice" (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13)—that is, unless it is reasonably probable that the defendant would have obtained a more favorable result in the absence of the error. (*People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836.) Further, unless the federal Constitution requires more exacting harmless-error inquiry, California courts must apply the state constitution's *Watson* standard. (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13; see *People v. Breverman* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 142, 172.)

It appears that neither this Court nor the United States Supreme Court has squarely resolved whether the federal Constitution requires application of the less-forgiving Chapman harmless-error standard to assess the effect of federal constitutional error for a claim raised only in state collateral review of a final criminal judgment. Respondent notes, as an initial matter, that the federal Constitution does not appear to require states to afford collateral attacks on final criminal judgments at all. (See Murray v. Giarratano (1989) 492 U.S. 1, 8 [109 S.Ct. 2765, 106 L.Ed.2d 1]; Pennsylvania v. Finley (1987) 481 U.S. 551, 557 [107 S.Ct. 1990, 95 L.Ed.2d 539]; see also Douglas v. California (1963) 372 U.S. 353, 356-357 [83 S.Ct. 814, 9 L.Ed.2d 811].) Moreover, in Hedgpeth v. Pulido, supra, 555 U.S. 57, a habeas corpus case involving the very kind of error alleged here—that is, submitting both a legally-correct theory and a legallyincorrect theory for the jury's consideration—the United States Supreme Court endorsed applying the more-forgiving Brecht v. Abrahamson test for harmlessness, i.e., "whether the flaw in the instructions 'had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict." (555 U.S. at p. 58; *Brecht v. Abrahamson* (1993) 507 U.S. 619, 623 [113 S.Ct. 1710, 123 L.Ed.2d 353].) In *Pulido*, the Ninth Circuit had held such an error to be structural and therefore reversible per se. But the Supreme Court reversed, and remanded the case to the Ninth Circuit for re-assessment under the *Brecht* standard. (*Id.* at pp. 58, 61-62.)

Justice Benke has written on this subject in *In re Hansen* (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 906. In that case, also involving instructional error, her dissenting opinion explained that state courts should apply the "more deferential 'grave doubt' harmless error standard of review, which governs consideration of similar trial errors when found in federal habeas corpus proceedings." (*Hansen*, *supra*, 227 Cal.App.4th at p. 929 (dis. opn. of Benke, J.).)

An actual prejudice test, such as set out in Watson and Brecht, is appropriate here. The Ninth Circuit has explained that the state-law Watson test for harmlessness and the federal-law Brecht test are "equivalent." (Bains v. Cambra (9th Cir. 2000) 204 F.3d 964, 971, n.2.) And the Watson and *Brecht* approach is especially tailored to protect the interest in finality of judgments on habeas corpus, to vindicate the state constitutional mandate against reversals of criminal judgments in the absence of a miscarriage of justice, and to avoid windfalls to defendants who assert their claims for the first time long after finality and might undeservedly benefit from the loss of evidence or the fading of witnesses' memories over time. (See Brecht, supra, 527 U.S. at p. 623; Clark, supra, 5 Cal.4th at pp. 764-765.) Adoption of the *Watson* harmless-error test in California habeas cases has the further benefit of familiarity, just as the familiarity of the federal judiciary with the Brecht test served as a recommendation for its adoption by the Supreme Court for federal habeas cases. (See Brecht, *supra*, at pp. 637-638.)

It is true that this Court applied a *Chapman*-like standard in *Chiu* when it assessed whether the instructional errors in those cases were "harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." (*Chiu*, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 167.) *Chiu* also relied on *People v. Guiton* (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1116, 1130-1131 (*Guiton*), which held that, where a jury is erroneously instructed with both a legally-valid theory and a legally-invalid theory of guilt, the error is prejudicial unless the court can determine that the jury in fact relied on the legally valid theory in rendering its verdict—a standard that appears even more stringent than that of *Chapman*. (*Chiu*, supra, at p. 167; *Guiton*, supra, 4 Cal.4th at pp. 1130-1131.)

But *Chiu* and *Guiton* were direct-appeal cases. Petitioner's case, in contrast, is a collateral attack on a final criminal judgment. Given the strong interest in finality, the *Hedgpeth v. Pulido* endorsement of an actual prejudice kind of test for this kind of error, and the state constitution's default miscarriage-of-justice standard for reversal, the appropriate harmless-error test here should be the *Watson* test.

2. The *Chiu* Error in Petitioner's Case Was Harmless

A review of the entire record is necessary to assess prejudice, whether under *Watson, Brecht*, or *Chapman*. (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13; *People v. Chun* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1172, 1201, 1203-1205; *Guiton, supra*, 4 Cal.4th at pp. 1130-1131; *People v. Green* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 1, 69-71; accord *Neder v. United States* (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 16-17.) Here, such a review reveals no reasonable probability that the outcome would have been any different had the jury not been instructed with the "natural and probable consequences" theory of aiding and abetting premeditated first degree murder.

a. The Court Must Review the Entire Record to Determine Prejudice, Not Just the Jury's Verdicts

Harmless-error review requires an examination of the entire record to determine prejudice. Indeed, the California Constitution specifically mandates review of "the entire cause." (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13.) And the trend of this Court's precedents reinforce this point.

Guiton, supra, 4 Cal.4th at pp. 1128-1129, at the least, left open the question of full-record analysis. Guiton examined the prejudicial effect of a trial court's instructions to the jury on a legal theory that found no factual support in the record. It distinguished between those situations in which the jury is presented with two theories but only one is factually valid versus those in which the jury considers two theories but only one is legally valid. Guiton made the assumption that the former instances would most likely require affirmance, while the latter would most likely require reversal. Even so, Guiton went on to explain that it might be clear in some cases "from other portions of the verdict that the jury necessarily found the defendant guilty on the proper theory." (Guiton, supra, at p. 1130.) But Guiton did not foreclose other methods of determining harmlessness. It left that "question to future cases." (Id. at p. 1131 ["There may be additional ways by which a court can determine that error in the Green situation is harmless. We leave the question to future cases."].)

In post-Guiton decisions involving instructional error in other contexts, this Court has reemphasized the need to examine, not just the jury's verdicts, but the entire record in assessing prejudice. People v. Breverman, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 165, abrogated the "near-automatic reversal for this form of error" earlier articulated in both People v. Sedeño (1974) 10 Cal.3d 703 and Guiton, supra, at p. 1130; and Breverman further explained that "misdirection of the jury is not subject to reversal unless an

examination of the entire record establishes a reasonable probability that the error affected the outcome."

This requirement is also reflected in *People v. Chun*—a case on which *Chiu* relied. (*Chiu*, *supra*, 59 Cal.4th at p. 167, citing *Chun*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th at pp. 1201, 1203-1205.) In *Chun*, the trial court instructed the jury on the felony-murder rule despite the fact that the evidence did not support the instruction. (*Chun*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 1179.) The jury found the defendant guilty of second degree murder. (*Ibid*.) This Court found the alleged error harmless—despite the Court of Appeal's belief "that it could not do so" under *Guiton*, *supra*, 4 Cal.4th 1116. (*Id*. at p. 1203.) In finding harmless error, *Chun* highlighted the limits of *Guiton*. As it explained, "*Guiton* does not dispose of this issue [whether a jury based its decision on a legally valid theory]." (*Ibid*.) Relying on Justice Baxter's concurring opinion in *People v. Cross* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 58, 69-71, this Court held that a prejudice review allows a reviewing court to examine more than just the other verdicts rendered by a jury. (*Ibid*.) It stated:

"Although Guiton observed that reliance on other portions of the verdict is '[o]ne way' of finding an instructional error harmless [citation], we have never intimated that this was the only way to do so. Indeed, Guiton noted that we were not then presented with the situation of a jury having been instructed with a legally adequate and a legally inadequate theory and that we therefore 'need not decide the exact standard of review' in such circumstances—although we acknowledged that '[t]here may be additional ways by which a court can determine that error in [this] situation is harmless. We leave the question to future cases.' [Citation.] Because this case only now presents that issue, Guiton does not provide a dispositive answer to the question."

(*Ibid.*, quoting *People v. Cross*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 70 (conc. opn. of Baxter, J.), emphasis in original.)

An examination of the entire record in determining prejudice is also consistent with federal jurisprudence. When the Supreme Court decides

whether a constitutional error in jury instructions is harmless, it conducts prejudice analysis by examining the entire record. (*Neder v. United States*, *supra*, 527 U.S. at pp. 16-17.) Thus, upon the United States Supreme Court's remand of *Pulido* for consideration of harmless-error under *Brecht*, the Ninth Circuit examined the entire record to determine that the instructional error was harmless. (*Pulido v. Chrones* (2010) 629 F.3d 1007, 1016, 1019 ["it is entirely appropriate to consider . . . the trial record as a whole"].)

b. The Chiu Error in the Instructions Did Not Result in a Miscarriage of Justice

As the Court of Appeal correctly held, and as discussed in further detail below, a review of the entire record in this case, including the evidence presented to the jury, establishes that the claimed *Chiu* error was harmless.

The evidence of petitioner's conduct, as presented to the jury, shows that petitioner "aided or encouraged [Darren] with the knowledge of [Darren's] unlawful purpose . . ., [and] with the intent . . . of committing, encouraging or facilitating" the murder of Esparza. (Cf. Chiu, supra, 59 Cal.4th at p. 167.) Not only did petitioner momentarily stop assaulting Parker when he heard the first shot after Darren said, "[t]his is Lomas," but petitioner turned, saw that Darren had shot Esparza, and then swung at Parker again, hitting Parker in the head, while Darren continued shooting Esparza. As the Court of Appeal below recognized, these actions establish premeditation and deliberation, if not from the time of the first shot, then at a minimum after the first shot, as petitioner prevented Parker from seeking aid for Esparza, while Darren continued shooting.

Petitioner's actions in preventing Parker from seeking aid for Esparza help establish his intent to facilitate or encourage Esparza's murder.

(People v. Koontz (2009) 27 Cal.4th 1041, 1082.) Preventing a witness

from obtaining medical aid for a homicide victim is "indicative of a deliberate intent to kill." (*Ibid.*) And petitioner here intentionally swung and punched Parker *after* hearing a gunshot; *after* stopping for a moment to survey the scene; and *after* seeing Darren standing over Esparza with a firearm preparing to shoot again. (2 RT 229, 236, 244, 286.) Petitioner's acts of punching Parker prevented Parker from immediately seeking medical aid for Esparza, had the potential (depending on the success of the punch) to prevent Parker entirely from seeking aid, and allowed petitioner and Darren to flee the scene more easily.

In addition to the evidence of petitioner's own actions, the jury also heard testimony from a gang expert that petitioner (knowing Darren was armed with a firearm) challenged Parker and Esparza "precisely because [petitioner] knew [Darren] was carrying a gun and [petitioner] relied on [Darren's] support as he attacked the others. Further, [petitioner's] use of violence would enhance the respect he received within the gang and for the gang among rival gangs." (*In re Martinez* (May 15, 2015, D066705); 8 RT 1355, 1359-1361; 9 RT 1489.)

Detective Hernandez also testified that Lomas street gang members who possess a weapon are not only inclined to use those weapons but are expected to use them. (8 RT 1355, 1361.) And, if they back away after challenging perceived rival gang members, the gang and individual gang members would be perceived as weak, so that there is an expectation that gang members must follow through on a challenge. (8 RT 1361.) Further, the expert testimony established that gang violence escalates quickly and that firearms are a factor in that escalation, so that it is not uncommon for an assault to escalate to murder. (9 RT 1513.) And petitioner was no stranger to gang fights, as he had bragged about being involved in them previously and had bragged about attacking a rival gang member while in custody awaiting trial in this case. (9 RT 1513.)

The evidence establishes that the result would have been the same, even had the jury not been instructed with the incorrect theory. A rational jury would have found petitioner's guilt of first degree murder under the proper direct-aiding theory: i.e., that petitioner had directly aided and abetted Darren in the first degree murder of Esparza, with the knowledge that Darren intended to kill Esparza and with the intent or purpose of committing, encouraging or facilitating that murder. Any *Chiu* error, therefore, was harmless under *Watson* and *Brecht*: it is not reasonably probable that the petitioner would have received a better result in the absence of the error. Respondent submits it was harmless even under *Chapman*, because it may be said beyond a reasonable doubt that a reasonable jury would have convicted petitioner under the correct theory. (See *Neder v. United States, supra*, 527 U.S. at pp. 16-17.)

c. Fiore v. White Does Not Help Petitioner

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